S248141

Case No. S _____

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

EVAN WEISS, BELINDA HENRY, MICHAEL HAYES, MICHEALE
HAYES, ROSS SHAW, DEBBIE SHAW, and 1819 MSC, LLC,
Plaintiffs and Appellants,

vs.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, acting by and through
the Department of Transportation; and ORANGE COUNTY
TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY,
Defendants and Respondents.

After a Published Decision by the Court of Appeal
Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. G052735

Appeal from the Superior Court of the State of California
for the County of Orange
Superior Court Case No. 30-2012-00605637
Honorable Kirk H. Nakamura, Judge Presiding

PETITION FOR REVIEW

1. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Was the decision below correct in disagreeing with established inverse condemnation practice, following *Dina v. People ex rel. Dept. of Transportation* (2007) 151 Cal. App. 4th 1029, using Code of Civil Procedure section 1260.040 to determine in advance of a bench trial whether a taking or damaging of private property has occurred?¹

2. INTRODUCTION: WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Code of Civil Procedure section 1260.040² created a new procedural tool for parties to an eminent domain action, which was designed to foster pretrial settlement. Section 1260.040 allows parties to bring a pretrial motion to decide “evidentiary or other legal issues affecting the

¹ The Court of Appeal held, in part, that Code of Civil Procedure section 1260.040 cannot be used to determine issues of liability regarding attendant causes of action contained within an inverse condemnation lawsuit, in this case, the nuisance cause of action. The Agencies do not seek review of that holding.

² All further statutory references are to the Code of Civil Procedure except where noted.

determination of compensation.” The Second Appellate District, *Dina v. People ex rel. Dept. of Transportation* (2007) 151 Cal. App. 4th 1029, applied section 1260.040 to an inverse condemnation case and held the statute authorized trial courts to decide issues of liability using this new tool.

Before section 1260.040 and its adoption by *Dina, supra*, trial judges and litigants were limited to bifurcated bench trials or motions for summary judgment or adjudication as ways to resolve these issues pretrial. These tools are not well-suited to resolve the many mixed questions of fact and law that are for the trial judge to decide and are common to both direct and inverse condemnation. Since *Dina*, property owners and public agencies alike have used this motion procedure with good results. This has been part of the inverse condemnation landscape for over a decade.

The Court of Appeal in this case rejected *Dina* and injected confusion and conflict into the law where none existed. The court held that section 1260.040 may not be used in inverse condemnation for any purpose. The court expressly acknowledged that its decision contradicts that in *Dina*. (Opn. pp. 18, 27, & 29.)³ At the same time, the court also stated that section 1260.040 could be used in inverse condemnation “to resolve legal issues regarding *compensation*,” though it did not define what issues fit that description. (Opn., p. 32; italics in original.)

If left unresolved, this split of authority and ambiguity will, as a practical matter, deter the bar from using this procedure in inverse condemnation cases for any purpose. The unavailability of section 1260.040 to resolve these issues pretrial will make the defense of inverse condemnation cases with questionable liability more expensive for public agencies to defend and riskier for property owners to pursue. Fewer

³ “Opn.” refers to the slip opinion of the lower court attached hereto as Exhibit A.

inverse condemnation cases will be settled before the parties have incurred substantial litigation expenses. And the burdens on the State’s trial courts will increase due to the prolonged litigation life of these cases.

This case presents an important question of law. Absent review, public agencies and property owners throughout the State will be deprived access to an effective procedural tool in inverse condemnation. Review is also necessary to clarify how, if at all, section 1260.040 can be used in inverse condemnation. The Agencies respectfully request that this Court grant review to resolve the express conflict in the published opinions on this important issue.

3. SUMMARY OF FACTS

Plaintiffs are a group of homeowners and the owner of a small hotel whose properties are clustered east of the I-5 freeway in the City of San Clemente. (1 CT 39-40.)⁴ Plaintiffs sued California Department of Transportation (“Caltrans”) and Orange County Transportation Authority (“OCTA”), alleging, in part, that the construction of a new soundwall on the opposite side of the freeway caused increased levels of noise, dust and glare ricocheting off the soundwall. (1 CT 40.) The soundwall was constructed in response to noise complaints by homeowners on the west side of the freeway. (1 CT 295-296.) Plaintiffs filed an inverse condemnation action in conjunction with other causes of action. (1 CT 41-42.)

The Agencies filed a motion pursuant to section 1260.040 attacking the inverse condemnation action. (1 CT 186-208.) The motion argued that Plaintiffs could not prove that the soundwall created a burden on them that was direct, peculiar and substantial. The trial court granted the motion. (4 CT 1071-1075.) The Court of Appeal reversed and remanded. (Opn. p.

⁴ “CT” will refer to the Clerk’s Transcript of the proceedings in the trial court, with references to applicable volume and page.

18.) The Court held that section 1260.040 was not available in inverse condemnation cases. (Opn. pp. 26-27, 30.)

4. LEGAL DISCUSSION

A. The Opinion Below Creates Conflict in Published Authority.

Section 1260.040 was adopted in 2001 as part of a larger statutory scheme designed to encourage eminent domain cases to settle pretrial. The statute provides, in part:

“If there is a dispute between plaintiff and defendant over an evidentiary or other legal issue affecting the determination of compensation, either party may move the court for a ruling on the issue.”

(Code Civ. Proc., §1260.040 subd. (a).)

Legislative comments introducing the Eminent Domain Law state that, “The provisions of the Eminent Domain Law are intended to supply rules only for eminent domain proceedings. The law of inverse condemnation is left for determination by judicial development.” (Cal. Law Revision Com. Com., 19 West’s Ann. Code Civ. Proc. (1982 ed.) foll. §1230.020, p. 395.)

In 2007, the Second District, in *Dina*, *supra*, approved the use of section 1260.040 in inverse condemnation actions to resolve issues of liability and any attendant causes of action. (151 Cal. App. 4th 1029.)⁵ The property owners in *Dina* claimed that the extension of the I-215 freeway

⁵ The *Dina* court was not the first to import a statute from the Eminent Domain Law into the body of inverse condemnation law. Despite its refusal to import section 1260.040 here, the Fourth District previously incorporated the business goodwill provisions of the Eminent Domain Law as justification for its holding that a business owner could sue for goodwill damages in inverse condemnation. (*Chhour v. Community Redevelopment Agency* (1996) 46 Cal. App. 4th 273, 282, citing Code Civ. Proc., §1263.510.)

caused unacceptable noise levels, audible vibrations, which were affecting the structural integrity of their homes and erosion beneath their foundations, and increased levels of air pollution. Caltrans argued that the inverse action failed for lack of evidence that the plaintiffs suffered harm, which was direct, peculiar and substantial sufficient to impose inverse liability (see, *Varjabedian v. City of Madera* (1977) 20 Cal. 3d 285, 298) and that governmental immunity barred the accompanying nuisance and negligence causes of action. The trial court weighed the evidence and dismissed all three causes of action.

On appeal, the plaintiffs argued that section 1260.040 does not authorize a trial court to decide issues of liability in a motion procedure, that the trial court was not allowed to weigh evidence under this procedure, and that the trial court denied them the right to a jury trial. Notably, the parties in *Dina* assumed that section 1260.040 applied to inverse actions. The Second District noted that section 1260.040 likely did apply to inverse actions. (151 Cal. App. 4th at p. 1041, fn. 3 [“Appellants, however, do not challenge the applicability of section 1260.040 on the ground that this action involved inverse condemnation rather than eminent domain, and we see no basis for declining to apply the statute to an inverse condemnation action.”].)

The *Dina* court held that section 1260.040 can be used to obtain a pretrial ruling on liability. (*Id.* at p. 1051.) The court reviewed the legislative history and considered the language of the statute. But in essence, the court seemed most persuaded by Caltrans’ argument:

“What could affect the determination of compensation more than whether or not the plaintiffs have a valid cause of action?”

(*Id.* at p. 1041.) The *Dina* court declined to decide whether section 1260.040 authorizes trial courts to weigh evidence and, instead, applied a

stringent standard of review, requiring the appellate court to view all evidence in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. (*Id.* at p. 1045.)

In this case, the Court of Appeal refused to import section 1260.040 into the body of inverse condemnation law as a matter of judicial development (Opn. p. 18), held that section 1260.040 cannot be used to decide issues of liability (Opn. pp. 17-27, 30), and expressly disagreed with the Second District's decision in *Dina* (Opn. pp. 18, 27, 29.).

The facts before the Court of Appeal and the court in *Dina* are almost identical. Both courts were presented with an intangible intrusion case by property owners alleging damages caused by a freeway and/or public improvements on a freeway. The holdings cannot be squared. Both courts examined the legislative history and the language of the statute and reached opposite conclusions. Review is needed to resolve this clear conflict in published authority.

B. The Rationale for the Court of Appeal's Opinion is Incorrect.

The Court of Appeal's decision is premised on two assumptions: (1) allowing section 1260.040 to resolve inverse condemnation liability does not promote the Legislature's intent of fostering settlement and (2) section 1260.040 is designed to function as a motion *in limine*, which is disfavored as a case-dispositive tool. (Opn. pp. 26 & 32.) These assumptions are unfounded.

1) Section 1260.040 has been used to promote settlement in inverse cases for the past ten years.

The Court of Appeal agreed that the Legislative purpose of section 1260.040 was to promote settlement but found that application of the statute to inverse condemnation would not advance that goal. (Opn. p. 32.) The Court of Appeal is wrong.

Ever since the decision in *Dina*, trial courts and other courts of appeal, in unpublished opinions, have used section 1260.040 in inverse condemnation actions. (e.g., *City of Oroville v. Superior Court* (Cal. Ct. App., June 13, 2017, No. C077181) 2017 WL 2554447, at *1, *as modified* (June 16, 2017), *review granted*, (Aug. 30, 2017, No. S243247) [by condemnee]; *Ronald W. Komers Trust v. County of Riverside* (Cal. Ct. App., May 16, 2016, No. E063550) 2016 WL 2908425, at *1 [by condemnor]; *Walker v. Imperial Irrigation Dist.* (Cal. Ct. App., June 30, 2015, No. D066429) 2015 WL 3971032, at *1 [by condemnor]; *Downey Real Estate Holding, LLC v. Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation Authority* (Cal. Ct. App., June 9, 2015, No. B244647) 2015 WL 3613241, at *1 [by condemnor]; *Office Digital Solutions Plus, Inc. v. Los Angeles Unified School District* (Cal. Ct. App., June 25, 2014, No. B247339) 2014 WL 2882628, at *4 [by condemnee]; *Wells v. County of San Bernardino*, 2009 WL 8130332 (Cal. Superior), San Bernardino County Superior Court, No. CIVSS811612 [by condemnee]; *JR Enterprises, LP v. City of Rancho Cucamonga*, 2008 WL 8187446 (Cal. Superior), San Bernardino County Superior Court, No. RCV090728 [by condemnee]; *Rochin v. County of Los Angeles*, 2007 WL 5396607 (Cal. Superior), Los Angeles County Superior Court, No. SC091327 [by condemnor].)⁶ These cases represent real-world examples of how the eminent domain bench and bar have incorporated and applied the holding in *Dina*.

Property owner lawyers file these motions early in the case to get a determination that the public entity is liable. Because Code of Civil Procedure section 1036 allows a successful inverse plaintiff to recover

⁶ The unpublished cases cited here are only those identified through a Westlaw search. Presumably, far more instances of its use at the trial court level exist than are reflected here.

litigation expenses (including attorney’s fees), a finding by the trial judge that the government is liable incentivizes the government to increase its settlement offer. Likewise, in cases where the public entity feels inverse liability is questionable, the entity can bring a motion under section 1260.040 to determine before trial whether it will face exposure to an award of litigation expenses. If the motion is denied, the public entity will be more motivated to increase its settlement offer. If the motion is granted, the plaintiff will be more motivated to decrease its settlement demand. Either way, section 1260.040 motions can be effective tools for promoting settlement in inverse condemnation.

2) **Case law discouraging dispositive motions *in limine* does not apply because section 1260.040 creates a new procedural tool.**

The language of the statute and the legislative history establish that section 1260.040 creates a new procedural tool. It is designed to do more than authorize a motion *in limine*.

Subdivision (a) provides that parties may move for a ruling on “an evidentiary or other legal issue affecting the determination of compensation.” The use of the word “evidentiary” certainly suggests that a motion under this section could take the form of a motion *in limine*, but the statute also uses the phrase, “other legal issue.” Read together, motions under this section are not limited to motions *in limine*. Subdivision (c) validates this interpretation. Subdivision (c) states that “[t]his section supplements, and does not replace any other pretrial or trial procedure otherwise available to resolve an evidentiary or other legal issue affecting the determination of compensation.”

The Legislature adopted section 1260.040 to create a new procedural tool because other procedural tools designed to resolve issues pretrial do not always work in eminent domain or are not always consistently

available. (Legislative history excerpts, pp. 41-44, attached collectively as Exhibit B.) A typical impediment to settlement in eminent domain, other than the amount of compensation, is a difference of opinion over the entitlement to a type of damage (e.g., loss of business goodwill) or the proper measure of damages (e.g., whether a property should be valued as dedicated land). Very often, those issues present mixed questions of fact and law for the trial judge to decide. (*City of Perris v. Stamper* (2016) 1 Cal. 5th 576, 593-95.) These issues cannot be resolved using summary judgment because questions of fact would defeat the motion.

The Legislature also recognized that bifurcation was not always available. The Law Review Commission noted that “some courts resist *in limine* motions and bifurcation, preferring to hear the matter only once and sort things out at trial. While this may be efficient for the judge hearing the case, it does not save the jury time, and does not foster early resolution of disputes and settlement of cases.” (Legislative history excerpts, p. 42, Exhibit B.)

These same issues are present in inverse condemnation. Absent review, parties to inverse condemnation actions will have fewer procedural tools available to them than their direct condemnation counterparts. Without section 1260.040, public entities facing questionable cases of inverse liability will be forced to take more cases to trial (and be exposed to the risk of large attorneys’ fees awards) or pay far more to settle them short of trial. Without section 1260.040, property owners will be reluctant to pursue close cases of inverse liability because liability will not be decided pretrial. Without section 1260.040, trial courts will be forced to bear heavier burdens of presiding over more protracted inverse cases.

C. Review is Warranted to Resolve Internal Inconsistencies in the Court of Appeal’s Opinion.

The Court’s decision includes internal inconsistencies that will likely confuse future litigants on the scope of the Court’s holding. At the outset, the Court announces that it “disagree[s] with *Dina*“ and “reject[s] the Agencies’ request [to] ‘import [section 1260.040] into the body of inverse condemnation law as a matter of judicial development.’” (Opn. p. 18.) Yet, later in the Opinion, the Court observes “we see no objection to applying section 1260.040 to resolve legal issues regarding *compensation* to foster settlement in inverse condemnation cases,” (Opn. p. 32, italics in original) and never defines “legal issues regarding compensation.” The inverse condemnation bar would be left to guess about what legal issues might be appropriate for resolution using a section 1260.040, if any.

D. Denying Review Will Not Develop the Issues Further.

This is not an issue that will percolate within the various California Courts of Appeal. The Court of Appeal’s decision could be read to allow for section 1260.040 motions in inverse condemnation if limited to “compensation issues.” (Opn. p. 32.) But the lack of clarity about what kinds of motions might be allowed and the inconsistency within the opinion would make it too risky, from a practical standpoint, to file or to appeal from a ruling on a section 1260.040 motion in an inverse condemnation action. It is unlikely that the issues regarding the application of section 1260.040 to inverse condemnation law will develop within other appellate court districts.

5. CONCLUSION