Case No. S248141

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

\_\_\_\_\_

EVAN WEISS, BELINDA HENRY, MICHAEL HAYES, MICHEALE HAYES, ROSS SHAW, DEBBIE SHAW, and 1819 MSC, LLC,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

VS.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, acting by and through its Department of Transportation; and ORANGE COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY,

Defendants and Respondents.

After a Published Decision by the Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. G052735

Appeal from the Orange County Superior Court Superior Court Case No. 30-2012-00605637 Honorable Kirk H. Nakamura, Judge Presiding

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

\_\_\_\_\_

### I. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiffs and Appellants¹ (collectively the "Weiss Parties") ask the Court to deny review of this case ("Weiss"). The Court of Appeal's Opinion below in Weiss (the "Opinion") is the first published authority to thoroughly analyze the language and purpose of Code of Civil Procedure² section 1260.040 and consider the Law Revision Commission Comments in light of an objection to the applicability of section 1260.040 to inverse condemnation liability proceedings. In Dina v. People ex rel. Dept. of Transportation (2007) 151 Cal.App.4th 1029. ("Dina"), the applicability of section 1260.040 to inverse condemnation liability was not disputed by the parties. The Weiss Parties ask the court to deny the review sought by petitioning parties People ex rel. Department of Transportation ("CalTrans"), and Orange County Transportation Authority ("OCTA") (CalTrans and OCTA, collectively, "Agencies").

### II. BACKGROUND

The factual, legal, and procedural background of this case has been extensively discussed by the Court of Appeal in its Opinion. (See Opinion pp. 3-8).

<sup>1</sup> Plaintiffs and Appellants are Evan Weiss, Belinda Harry, Michael Hayes, Michaele Hayes, Ross Shaw, Debbie Shaw, and 1819 MSC, LLC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> All further references are to California *Code of Civil Procedure* unless otherwise noted.

#### III. ARGUMENT

# A. Not Every Conflict in Case Law Warrants Supreme Court Review; Review of *Weiss* is Not Necessary

The *Weiss* Opinion carefully analyzes section 1260.040, the legislative history, and the Law Revision Commission Comments to conclude section 1260.040 does not apply to inverse condemnation liability proceedings. *Dina* applied section 1260.040 to inverse condemnation in the absence of an objection by the parties to the applicability of 1260.040 to inverse condemnation proceedings.

In *Dina*, the appellate court supported the lower court's findings that plaintiffs "failed to proffer any competent evidence" to support their case, including inverse condemnation, nuisance, or trespass. *Dina* at 1049. That court's discussion of the applicability of section 1260.040 to inverse condemnation was limited to the following: "Appellants, however, do not challenge the applicability of section 1260.040 on the ground that this action involved inverse condemnation rather than eminent domain, and we see no basis for declining to apply the statute to an inverse condemnation action." *Dina* at 1041, fn3.

Not declining to apply a statute to a case lacking competent evidence and without a challenge to the applicability of the statute, as in *Dina*, is qualitatively different from *Weiss*, where a challenge to the applicability of the statute was asserted, and the Court carefully reviewed the lower case,

statutory language, legislative history, and Law Revision Commission analysis to conclude that section 1260.040 was not intended to and does not apply to inverse condemnation liability cases.<sup>3</sup>

Moreover, in Respondents' Supplemental Brief ("RSB") filed by Agencies below, they stated, "In no published opinion has a court decided whether section 1260.040 applied to inverse condemnation actions. [fn2 omitted] This is a matter of first impression...Section 1260.040 does not directly apply to inverse condemnation actions." (RSB p. 7).

Not every conflict in the case law warrants Supreme Court review. Some fact-specific appellate court decisions, such as *Dina*, can be further developed by subsequent Appellate Court decisions, without wasting the scarce resources of the California Supreme Court. This is such a case. With *Weiss*, courts now have a carefully analyzed road map to follow.

Review is not warranted.

# B. The Rationale for the Opinion is Correct and Well Founded

## 1. The Opinion is internally consistent.

In *Weiss*, the Court concludes that section 1260.040 does not apply to the question of liability in inverse condemnation cases and reverses the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> *Dina* also concluded section 1260.040 allowed the court to determine companion causes of action for nuisance and negligence. Clearly, these are not contemplated in the eminent domain law or Section 1260.040 as determined in Weiss. (Opinion p. 23). Even Petitioning Agencies acknowledge in Footnote 1 of their Petition for Review they do not challenge the *Weiss* Court's Opinion on that ground.

trial court on that ground. The Court specifically mentioned that no issue of compensation was presented in *Weiss*. (Opinion p. 2). The Court's determination that section 1260.040 is not applicable to inverse condemnation *liability* proceedings is not inconsistent with leaving open the possibility of applying section 1260.040 to legal issues regarding *compensation* in inverse condemnation cases.

# 2. The Opinion quotes from and is consistent with a leading commentator's views.

The Opinion is consistent with a noted commentator on the subject, referenced below in Petitioner's Supplemental Opening Brief, and quoted in the Opinion. The Court stated:

As a respected commentator oft-cited by the Law Revision Commission in its Recommendation to the Legislature to adopt AB 237 later concluded in criticizing Dina: "The motion in limine procedure of CCP § 1260.040, which was enacted to determine key disputed evidentiary points before trial in a direct condemnation [proceeding] [citation] was used to address liability in an inverse case in Dina . . . . Although a motion for summary judgment may have been appropriate in that case, in the author's view the motion in limine was not the proper vehicle to dispose of the case." (2 Matteoni, Condemnation Practice in California (Cont. Ed. Bar. 3d ed., Oct. 2016 update) Trial Preparation and Trial, § 17.8, p. 17-17; see Recommendation, supra, 30 Cal. Law Revision Com. Rep., pp. 573, 579, 585 & fns. 1, 17, 31 [citing 1 Matteoni, Condemnation Practice in California (Cont. Ed. Bar. 2d ed. 2000) Trial Preparation and Trial, §§ 9.2, 9.14, 9.12, pp. 364, 389-90, 384-385.) We agree with Matteoni's conclusion. (Opinion pp. 21-22). (emphasis added).

Mr. Matteoni has submitted an Amicus Curiae Letter in Opposition to Agencies' Petition for Review.

C. Agencies' Arguments are Not Supported by the Language and Intent of Section 1260.040

Agencies' effort to import section 1260.040 into the body of inverse

condemnation law with respect to issues of liability, even before an expert

exchange is required, advocates creating a new dispositive motion in limine

procedure that would be uniquely applicable to inverse condemnation

cases, despite that there is no mention of inverse condemnation in section

1260.040. The Weiss Court carefully analyzed the statutory language and

Law Revision Commission Comments to support its Opinion. The

language and the intent of section 1260.040 do not support Agencies'

position.

Review should be denied.

IV. CONCLUSION

Respondents respectfully ask this Court to deny the Agencies'

Petition for Review.